
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Wessex Room - The Corn Exchange, Market Place, Devizes, SN10 
1HS 

Date: Thursday 7 September 2023 

Time: 3.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718059 or email 
matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Philip Whitehead (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Dr Brian Mathew 
Cllr Kelvin Nash 
  

Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 
Cllr Tony Pickernell 
Cllr Iain Wallis 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler 
 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Mel Jacob 
Cllr Jerry Kunkler 
Cllr Dominic Muns 
Cllr James Sheppard  

 

  
 

Cllr Caroline Thomas 
Cllr Laura Mayes 
Cllr Tamara Reay  

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be 
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the 
public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link.  
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
Our privacy policy is found here. 
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 
details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fparking-car-parks&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=FK5U7igUosMzWIp1%2BhQp%2F2Z7Wx%2BDt9qgP62wwLMlqFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Democracy%20Privacy%20Policy&ID=5980&RPID=33929105


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 13 
July 2023. 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.  
 
Statements 
 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register no later than 
10 minutes before the start of the meeting. If it is on the day of the meeting 
registration should be done in person. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are linked to 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application, and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered. 
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 
Questions 
 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 



 

Page 4 

 

questions on non-determined planning applications. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 31 August 2023 in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 4 September 2023. Please contact the officer named 
on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 11 - 14) 

 To receive details of the completed and pending appeals, and any other updates 
as appropriate. 
 
 
 
Please Note: This item was omitted when this agenda was initially published 
online.  

 Planning Applications  

 To consider and determine the following planning application. 

7   PL/2023/00207: Cross Keys Inn, Upper Chute, SP11 9ER (Pages 15 - 32) 

 Demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a detached dwelling with 
associated parking, turning, landscaping, private amenity space and access.  

8   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Eastern Area Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 13 JULY 2023 AT CERES HALL - THE CORN EXCHANGE, MARKET PLACE, 
DEVIZES, SN10 1HS. 
 
Present: 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair), Cllr Dr Brian Mathew, 
Cllr Tony Pickernell, Cllr Iain Wallis, Cllr Stuart Wheeler, Cllr Dominic Muns 
(Substitute) and Cllr James Sheppard (Substitute) 
 
Also Present: 
Cllr Philip Whitehead 
  

 
27. Apologies 

 
Apologies were received from: 
 

 Cllr Philip Whitehead, who attended only his capacity as Unitary Division 
Member, substituted by Cllr James Sheppard 

 Cllr Kelvin Nash, substituted by Cllr Dominic Muns 

 Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 
 

28. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
On the proposal of the Vice-Chairman, seconded by Cllr Wallis, it was: 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 22 June 2023,  as 
a true and correct record.   
 

29. Declarations of Interest 
 
Cllr Wallis made an additional declaration in relation to Item 7, that the worked 
in the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.   
 

30. Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no Chairman’s announcements. 
 

31. Public Participation 
 
There was no public participation. 
 

32. Planning Appeals and Updates 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
On the proposal of the Vice-Chairman, seconded by Cllr Sheppard, it was: 
 
Resolved 
 
To note the report on completed and ending appeals.  
 

33. PL/2023/01303: Saddlepack Farm, SN10 3HZ 
 
Public Participation 
 

 Mr Terry Fell JP (President of Devizes Angling Association) spoke in 
objection to the application. 

 Dr Joe Scarffe spoke in objection to the application. 

 Dr Alex Cooper spoke in objection to the application. 

 Mr Andrew Watton (Bourne Valley Associates) spoke in support of the 
application. 

 Mr Mark Whiteman spoke in favour of the application. 

 Mr Miles Elderfield spoke in support of the application. 

 Cllr Chris Lawrence, Chairman of Stert Parish Council, spoke in objection 
to the application. 

 
 
 
The Planning Officer, Lucy Rutter-Dowd, introduced a report which 
recommended that the application for the erection of a cattle barn be approved. 
Key considerations were stated to include the principal of development, 
landscape, visual, environmental, highway and ecological impact as well as 
impact on neighbouring amenity.  
 
The Planning Officer explained that the application complied with Core Policy 
34 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (additional employment land) and noted that 
the barn would be used for the purposes of farming and food production. The 
proposal was considered acceptable in terms of its surroundings complying with 
Core Policy 51 (landscape) and Core Policy 57 (high quality design and place 
shaping) of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. It was considered that there would be 
no impact on neighbour amenity in terms of scale, loss of privacy, overbearing 
impact or overshadowing. In addition, no objections had been raised in terms of 
highway safety and capacity.  
 
It was reported that Wiltshire Council’s ecologist had revised their initial 
assessment after receiving additional photographic evidence of the site. 
Conditions had been included in the recommendation in line with their 
comments.  
 
Attention was drawn to a number of letters received in relation to the 
application. The Planning Officer clarified that comments made from those living 
outside of Stert could be considered.  
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

In response to technical questions by the Committee, it was confirmed that the 
proposed development was located in a nitrate vulnerable zone. The Planning 
Officer also clarified that the stipulation of The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 preventing the erection 
of barns within 400 metres of a protected building, only applied to schemes 
being built under permitted development. The applicant would be entitled to 
build a barn in a different location, at least 400 metres from residential dwellings 
under permitted development, which may have a greater impact on the local 
ecology and landscape. 
 
Senior Conservation and Planning Officer Ruaridh O’Donoghue clarified that the 
issue of drainage would not be a planning issue but would be covered by 
separate legislation and enforced through the Department for the Environment 
and Rural Affairs. The nearest stream was approximately 300 metres, two fields 
away, from the proposed development site.  
 
Members of the public then had their opportunity to present their views, as 
detailed above.  
 
The Unitary Division Member, Cllr Philip Whitehead, stated that he would not be 
supporting the application. Cllr Whitehead explained that he had consulted with 
the Monitoring Officer about whether it would be appropriate to have Chaired 
the meeting after he had become aware of concerns from the applicant that he 
may have been biased. Cllr Whitehead refuted the idea that he had pre-
determined the application, believing that he was able to maintain an open 
mind, but had decided to send his apologies for the meeting and speak only in 
his capacity as Unitary Division Member. 
 
Cllr Whitehead suggested that if the Committee were minded to approve the 
application then they should seek to impose a condition on the use of internal 
lighting. He also raised concerns about the sustainability of the project, stating 
that not want to see the establishment of an agricultural contracting business. In 
addition, he noted that an addendum to the planning application spoke about 
the possibility of up to 240 cattle using the site, which he did not view as an 
appropriate number for the available land. 
 
In response to the questions from the public, the Planning Officer explained that 
the fishing lake was not seen to be directly impacted by the development as the 
application site was bounded by land owned by the applicant. The Senior 
Planning and Conservation Officer explained that he did not believe that the 
application conflicted with the National Planning Policy Framework and that 
planning policy could not consider the financial viability of the project. The 
applicant’s behaviour in relation to other applications was also not a material 
consideration. It would also not be possible to impose a condition on the internal 
lighting as this could only be done for applications about listed buildings.  
 
So that the Committee had something to debate, the Vice-Chairman, seconded 
by Cllr Wallis, proposed that the application be approved for the reasons 
outlined in the report.  
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

A debate followed where members stated that noted that there was a possibility 
that the applicant could build a barn under permitted development in a 
potentially less suitable location. Some members expressed concerns about the 
headage of cows per acre being out of scope with the size of the site but 
recognised that the number of cattle was not a planning issue.   
 
Cllr Dr Mathew questioned whether the development may contradict Core 
Policy 50 on biodiversity and Core Policy 69, the protection of the river Avon. 
The Planning Officers explained that Wiltshire Council’s ecologist had been 
satisfied by the conditions imposed in the recommendation. The Environment 
Agency would be responsible for ensuring that safe farming practices were in 
place. 
 
Other issues raised included the concerns of local residents and the importance 
of supporting opportunities of young farmers. It was then: 
 
Resolved 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1 - The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2 - The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and documents: 
 

 Doc Title: Application Form. 

 Drg Title: Location Plan. Drg No: 02760-00-G. Sheet 1. Received: 
17/02/2023. 

 Drg Title: Block Plan. Drg No: 02760-00-G. Sheet 2. Received: 
17/02/2023. 

 Drg Title: Plans & Elevation. Drg No: 02760-06. Sheet 01. Received: 
17/02/2023. 

 Drg Title: Site Sections. Drg No: 02760-06. Sheet 02. Received: 
17/02/2023. 

 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 
3 - No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and 
soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include: 
 
a) location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and hedgerows 
bounding the 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

application site; 
b) full details of any to be retained, together with measures for their 
protection in the course 
of development; 
c) a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and 
planting sizes and planting densities; 
Page 31d) any trees (details of their size, species and locations to be 
agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority), shall be planted in accordance with BS3936 
(Parts 1 and 4), BS4043 and BS4428 
 
REASON: Insufficient information was submitted with the application to 
enable this matter to be considered prior to determination, and the matter 
is required to be agreed before the commencement of development to 
ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape features. 
 
4 - All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
first occupation of the building or the completion of the development 
whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. 
 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. All hard 
landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in 
accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
 
5 - Prior to the commencement of any works, including any further 
vegetation removal, details of the following shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority: 
 
1) location, area and species of compensatory tree and native shrub 
planting within a suitable area of the site, that will replace the functionality 
of the hedgerows adjacent to the buildings. 
2) the number, design and locations of roosting opportunities for bats and 
nesting opportunities for birds shall be submitted to the local authority for 
approval. These details should be clearly shown on a site plan. The 
approved details shall be implemented before occupation of the final 
works. 
3) The plan will also show details of areas to be planted up with additional 
trees/hedges, to increase the quality and functionality of the existing 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

habitat within the site, for the benefit of local wildlife. Biodiversity 
enhancements will remain available for the targeted species for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON: Insufficient information was submitted with the application to 
enable this matter to be considered prior to determination, and the matter 
is required to be agreed before the commencement of development to 
provide enhancement for biodiversity. 
 
6 - No external lighting shall be installed on site unless plans showing the 
type of light appliance, the height and position of fitting, illumination 
levels and light spillage have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The plans will be in accordance with the 
appropriate Environmental Zone standards set out by the Institute of 
Lighting Engineers in their publication GN01:2011, ‘Guidance for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light’ (ILP, 2011), and 
Guidance note GN08-18 “Bats and artificial lighting in the UK”, issued by 
the Bat Conservation Trust and Institution of Lighting Professionals. 
 
The approved lighting shall be installed and maintained in accordance 
with the approved details and no additional external lighting shall be 
installed.  
 
REASON: To minimise unnecessary light spillage above and outside the 
development. 
 
 

34. Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.30 pm) 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 

direct line 01225 718059, e-mail matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line 01225 713114 or email 
communications@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 10

mailto:communications@wiltshire.gov.uk


Wiltshire Council   
Eastern Area Planning Committee 

7th September 2023 
 
Planning Appeals Received between 30/06/2023 and 25/08/2023 

Application 
No 

Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Start Date 

Overturn 
at Cttee 

PL/2021/11212 42 & 44 Oxford Street, 
Ramsbury, SN8 2PG 

Ramsbury Removal of existing bike store to 
No. 44 Oxford Street. Erection of 
detached two bay open 
cartshed/store and detached four 
bay garage with accommodation 
above, both to serve No. 44 Oxford 
Street. Removal of existing shed, 
gate and wall to allow for revised 
vehicular access arrangements for 
both No's 42 and 44 Oxford Street. 
Associated hard and soft 
landscaping; including new walls, 
gates and fencing. 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 06/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/05942 Withy Tree Cottage, 
Knowle, Pewsey, SN9 5JH 

Pewsey Replacement of existing extension 
on east/side elevation and 
conservatory on north/rear 
elevation with part two-storey side 
and part single-storey rear 
extension, together with associated 
alterations and formation of parking 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 18/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/06877 2 Ivy Cottage, Low Road, 
Little Cheverell, Devizes, 
SN10 4JX 

Little Cheverell New detached garage, turning zone 
and reconfigured steps up to 
existing cottage. 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse 27/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/07031 Saddlepack Farm, Stert, 
Wiltshire, SN10 3HZ 

Stert Stable building DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 18/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/07041 Land off Waiblingen Way, 
Devizes, SN10 2BW 

Devizes The construction of one detached 
dwelling and associated 
infrastructure - resubmission of 
application PL/2022/02555 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 11/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/07348 Land and buildings to the 
rear of Malthouse Farm, 
Oak Lane, Easterton, SN10 
4PD 

Easterton Demolition of pole barn and 
erection of a replacement building 
for use as holiday let, along with 
associated communal space/bike 
store and general storage for the 
wider landholding. 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 06/07/2023 No 

PL/2022/09738 West Winds, 72 
Netherstreet, Bromham, 
SN15 2DP 

Bromham Variation of Condition 2 of 
PL/2021/11715 (Demolition of 
bungalow and replacement with 1 
detached dwelling and associated 
works to include change of use of 
land to form extended residential 
curtilage) to vary the approved 
plans and increase the size of the 
proposed garage. 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 11/07/2023 No 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



 
Planning Appeals Decided between 30/06/2023 and 25/08/2023 

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 
or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Decision 

Decision 
Date 

Costs 
Awarded? 

PL/2021/11334 7 Old School Close, 
Bromham, 
Chippenham, SN15 
2ES 

Bromham Single storey rear extension, 
plus second storey side 
extension. 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Allowed with 
Conditions 

09/08/2023 None 

PL/2021/11543 Mill Lane, West 
Lavington, SN10 4HS 

West Lavington Demolition of the existing 
buildings and construction of 19 
affordable homes together with 
associated parking, access and 
landscaping. 

EAPC Written Reps Approved 
with 

Conditions 

Allowed with 
Conditions 

11/07/2023 Appellant 
applied for 
Costs - 
ALLOWED 

PL/2022/02001 5 Bell Place, The Butts, 
Potterne, Wiltshire, 
SN10 5LY 

Potterne Creation of access and 
hardstanding. 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse Dismissed 20/07/2023 None 

  

P
age 12



PL/2021/07810 1 Bedwyn Common 
Marlborough, SN8 3HZ 

Great Bedwyn Change of use of existing 
residential annexe to self-
contained dwelling including the 
provision of 2 car parking 
spaces. No change proposed to 
plan and elevations of the 
building. 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Allowed with 
Conditions 

07/10/2022 None 
 

PL/2021/10698 Land adjacent Whitton 
Lodge, Ramsbury, 
Marlborough, Wiltshire, 
SN8 2PX 

Ramsbury Erection of new dwelling, car 
parking, access, landscaping 
and associated works. 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed 15/12/2022 None 
 

PL/2022/00208 32 Devizes Road, 
Potterne, SN10 5LN 

Potterne Creation of a new access to 
serve the dwelling at Hillcrest, 
32 Devizes Road, Potterne 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse Dismissed 12/12/2022 None 
 

PL/2022/00359 Land at The Old School, 
Fittleton, SP4 9QA 

Fittleton cum 
Haxton 

Erection of a new dwelling with 
associated access and parking 
(Revised Scheme) 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed 10/11/2022 None 
 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT FOR EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No. 

Date of Meeting 7th September 2023 

Application Number PL/2023/00207 

Site Address Cross Keys Inn, Upper Chute SP11 9ER 

Proposal Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 1 no. 

detached dwelling; with associated parking, turning, 

landscaping, private amenity space and access. 

Applicant S & A Moore Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Chute 

Electoral Division Ludgershall North and Rural – Cllr Christopher Williams 

Grid Ref 429,431 – 153,891 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Lynda King 

  
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
This application is brought to this Committee due to the call in from Cllr Christopher Williams 
who has requested that the application be determined by the Planning Committee if officers 
are minded to refuse, since Cllr Williams considers the proposed new detached dwelling to 
be acceptable and in conformity with the Chutes Design Guide. 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation 
that the application be refused. 

 
2. Report Summary 
The main issues which are considered to be material in the determination of this planning 
application are listed below: 

 The Principle of Development 

 Heritage and Design 

 Ecology Impacts 
 
Chute Parish Council support the application. 2 letters of objection have been received from 
third parties, whilst one third-party letter of support and 4 letters making general comments 
on the proposal were received 
 
3. Site Description 
  
The application site relates to the former Cross Keys Inn property which extends to about 0.3 
hectares and is located within the Conservation Area of Upper Chute, which is a small 
village with no defined settlement boundary, about 4km from Ludgershall and located within 
the North Wessex Downs AONB. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 

 
The Cross Keys Inn (shown above) ceased trading in early 2017, and benefitted from 
planning permission being granted in December 2019 (under application 19/09571/FUL) to 
convert the property to a single dwelling when it was demonstrated that the public house 
was no longer viable. 
 
It is noteworthy to mention that local residents previosuly made an approach to Historic 
England to see whether the building was suitable to be Listed, but a decision was made in 
October 2019 not to List the building. 
 
The existing building is argued by the applicant’s agent to be “in a poor state of repair and 
has been the subject of vandalism and break-ins in recent years. The 
wider site is characterised by large areas of hardstanding, overgrowth and has suffered from 
fly tipping on a number of occasions”. The following site photo of the rear of the former Inn 
reveals the current visual appearance. 

 
 

Page 16



The site is sandwiched between Haybourne Cottage and Eli Cottage, to the west and east 
respectively, both of which are residential dwellings. Immediately to the south of the site is 
Malthouse Lane (from which the site is accessed), beyond which is agricultural land. 
 

 
 
The subject property is a two-storey building having a domestic appearance, constructed of 
white painted brick under a slated roof, which has been extended and altered (somewhat 
unsympathetically in the past) incorporating a number of materials namely brick, flint, render, 
timber boarding, slate and felt.  
 
The site is physically well contained, with well-established tree planting defining the eastern 
and western boundaries of the site. None of these are covered by a Tree Preservation 
Order. 
 
With regards to topography, there appears to be a gentle rise in levels across the 
development site generally from south to north. 
 
There is a large, wooden outbuilding projecting to the south (front) of the building with 
various out buildings within the curtilage. The front of the property is laid to lawn and garden, 
with the previous area of car parking to the west. This is a gravelled area with access from 
the highway.  
 
There are single storey dwellings either side of the premises, but these are not readily visible 
from within the site due to the well-established level of landscape planting, with the Cross 
Keys Inn being set back from the highway.  
 
The application site is near the edge of the village, where the access road turns into a series 
of bridleways and footpaths. There are extensive and wide-ranging views from the property 
to the south and west, and a public footpath (PROW CHUT18) crosses the front of the site 
on a diagonal route and needs to be accommodated as part of any re-development of the 
site. 
 

Page 17



 
 

Location Plan with footpaths shown 
 

 
Location Plan with Conservation Area boundary around village (application site shown in red) 

 
 

4. Planning History 
 
E/2013/0307/FUL - Change of use of public house to form single dwelling; planting and 
landscaping to form residential gardens. Refused. Appeal Dismissed. 
 
19/09571/FUL – change of use from public house into a single dwelling – Approved 
 
20/06874/FUL – demolition of existing buildings and construction of a new residential 
dwelling with separate garaging – Refused. Appeal dismissed 
 

Page 18



PL/2022/04050 – Certificate of Lawful use – material operations pursuant to, and consistent 
with, development granted under planning permission 19/09571/FUL – Certificate Granted 
 
 
5. The Proposal 
 
The application proposes the demolition of the existing building and its replacement with a 
single dwelling with separate garaging. 
 

 
 
6. Local Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy context. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) 
 
NPPF - Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be approved 
without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-
date then permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of approval would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the NPPF or 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Relevant NPPF sections include: 
Section 8 – promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 11- making effective use of land 
Section 12- achieving well-designed places 
Section 15 – conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 – conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Wiltshire Core Strategy:  
CP1 – Settlement Strategy 
CP2 – Delivery Strategy 
CP26 – Spatial Strategy: Tidworth Community Area 
CP50 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Page 19



CP51 - Landscape  
CP57 - Ensuring High Quality Design & Space Shaping 
CP58 - Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment 
 

Chute Design Guide 2022 

 

7. Summary of consultation responses 

 

Chute Parish Council - Supports this application in principle but on the condition that the 
public Right of Way at the front of the building is preserved. On the current plans, the right of 
way would run through the proposed garden room. The architect re-submitted plans showing 
the building moved back slightly on the site and adding the RoW in front of the property as 
clearly defined. 
 

WC Conservation Officer – Objects (comments are discussed in detail within section 9.2 

below) 

 

WC Ecology Officer – No objection subject to conditions to amended plans 

 

WC Highways Officer – No objection 

 

WC Rights of Way Officer – No objection to amended plans 

 

SAVE Britain’s Heritage - SAVE Britain’s Heritage strongly objects to the above planning 
application for the demolition of Cross Keys Inn, Upper Chute on the basis that the proposal 
involves the total loss of non-designated heritage asset (NDHA), which we consider makes a 
positive contribution to the fabric and significance of the designated Upper Chute 
Conservation Area. This loss would constitute substantial and unjustified harm in heritage 
terms, and therefore fails to comply with national and local policy for preserving Wiltshire’s 
historic environment. On this basis we call on the Local Planning Authority to refuse planning 
permission. 

 

8. Publicity 

The application was advertised by a Site Notice and posted-out notification letters to 
neighbouring properties. The application generated 2 letters of objection, one letter of 
support and 4 letters making general comments on the proposal. These comments are 
summarised below: 
 
Objection:-  

 The previous appeal was dismissed because of the detrimental effect on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area and AONB. This proposal is 
for an even bigger house than before and will still have a detrimental effect 

 The design and mass of the proposed dwelling will appear dominant in its 
surroundings 

 The proposal will conflict with policies 57 and 58 of the Core Strategy 

 The proposal contravenes Policy 5 of the recently adopted Chute Design Guide 

 The applicant’s Structural Comments give no convincing reason why renovation 
should not be possible. 

 The building appears to have been allowed to dilapidate so that it can be 
replaced 

 The replacement would lead to the destruction of a local and historic building, 
which would set a dangerous precedent 

Page 20



 There are bats in the building, and are protected therefore a full assessment of 
the bat roost will be required. 

 
Support:- 

 Generally in favour of the new design 

 As a historic community reference point it is important to honour the building’s 
significance as a past meeting point and ancient way marker. 

 The new south elevation goes some way to reflect Cross Keys as it was, whilst 
blending into a new home 

 Would not like to see the height and mass to increase any further in the future 
 
General Comments:- 

 With the local historical significance of the original Cross Keys building I am 
dismayed that more is not being done to retain the existing building 

 The recently adopted Chute Design Guide is a material consideration and the 
development should be considered against the policies in this document. 

 The current route of footpath CHUT18 would benefit from being diverted 
between the site and Eli Cottage. This realignment would be supported by the 
local Ramblers Group. 

 The plan should accurately show the route of the existing right of way 

 The applicants should consider what the role of their part of CHUT18 could be in 
the general discussion that has been going on in the village about creating a 
easy to use circular path around the village 

 

 

9. Planning Considerations 

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of planning applications 
must be made in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 

9.1 Principle of development 

The site lies on the edge of the village of Upper Chute, within the Conservation Area, and 
within the North Wessex Downs AONB. Upper Chute is designated as a small village and 
therefore does not have a settlement boundary.  All new housing proposals within small 
villages require to be assessed on their own merits and acceptability on providing windfall 
infill housing. 
 
Planning permission was previously granted in 2019 for the conversion of the existing former 
public house, with some minor alterations to remove some external structures, to a form a 
dwelling (application 19/09571/FUL refers). This application followed a previous refusal of 
planning permission (E/2013/0307/FUL) to change the use of the pub to a dwelling on the 
grounds that the proposal did not satisfy Policy CP49 (Protecting Rural Services and 
Community Facilities) in that it had not been demonstrated that the public house was no 
longer viable. That decision was supported at appeal. 
 
Evidence was submitted in support of the 2019 application to demonstrate that efforts had 
been made to run the pub as a community effort, but that this failed, which then led to the 
premises being marketed for a considerable length of time as a business, but that there was 
no interest forthcoming in taking on the public house operation as a going concern.  
 
The grant of planning permission for the change of use of the building to a dwelling involved 
a very light touch to the fabric of the building, which minimised the extent of demolition works 

Page 21



to the removal of an external staircase, the rear conservatory, and a storm porch. There was 
no suggestion at the time that the structure of the building was not capable of conversion to 
a dwelling in accordance with the submitted plans. The Planning Statement which 
accompanied the 2019 application commented in respect of the Heritage Impacts of the 
proposed conversion that: - 
 

“The NPPF paragraphs 189-201 (Officer note – this refers to a previous version of the 

NPPF) considers the impact of development on the historic environment. In particular at 

paragraph 192 local authorities must take account of the desirability of sustaining and 

enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them into viable uses consistent 

with their conservation. 

 

The public benefits of the proposal are that overall the scheme benefits the conservation 

area and ensures the sustainable use of the site by repair and protection of the built fabric by 

giving the buildings a positive use. In addition, the overall appearance of the conservation 

area will be improved by the new use. In terms of heritage impact the balance is a positive 

one.” 

 

Planning permission was therefore granted for the change of use of the building to a 
substantial 6-bedroom dwelling, and evidence was submitted in 2022 (under 
PL/2022/04050) to demonstrate that works to convert the building to a dwelling, by way of 
the demolition of the rear conservatory, had materially commenced. At that stage the 
condition of the building and its suitability for conversion were not questioned or argued to be 
no longer viable. 
 
The current application proposes the demolition of the existing building and its replacement 
with a new dwelling. 
 

The elevations of the existing dwelling are shown below: - 

Page 22



 
 

The proposed elevations are shown below:- 

 

Page 23



 
 

The Proposed Floor Plans are shown below: - 

 

 
 

Page 24



The proposed block plan, showing the outline of the existing building dotted, is shown below: 

 
 

A Structural Report, based on a visual inspection of the existing building only, to assess the 
structural integrity of the building and its suitability for renovation, has been submitted in 
support of the application. It concludes that:- 
 

The buildings at The Cross Keys Inn that are currently being considered for renovation to 

habitable living accommodation are in a state of degradation and dilapidation that is 

considered, to be placing them in a state of limiting stability. Renovation work will involve the 

substantial removal of roof and floor elements that are degraded and unsuitable for reuse 

which is likely to cause the remaining the walls, to partially collapse or complete collapse of 

the farmhouse. 

 

There is likely to be no suitable foundation under the existing walls. There has been 

sufficient movement at foundation level to cause cracking over and under all the windows in 

the main building. The capacity for the walls to be able to have underpinning applied is low. 

In summary there is limited opportunity to rectify the numerous structural issues with the 

buildings and it is therefore the opinion of Kevin Palmer that there is no further alternative 

but to rebuild the building. 

 

The above assertion has its limitations being based on a visual inspection only and is not 
informed by a detailed and dimensional survey of the building, nor does it ascertain the 
condition of any structural elements not visible to the naked eye without the need for any 
opening up. Both the Council’s Conservation Officer and SAVE Britain’s Heritage consider 
the building to be capable of conversion, and officers are consequently not convinced that 
demolition is necessary.  The following quote taken from SAVE Britain’s heritage 
consultation response merits due weight:- 
 
“SAVE considers the Cross Keys Inn to be capable and worthy of being retained and 
sympathetically restored as part of any future redevelopment of this site. In doing so, a key 

Page 25



part of Wiltshire’s architectural heritage would be preserved for future generations. 
Approving demolition without justification or evidence of how and why retention of any kind is 
not possible, risks setting a dangerous precedent for the piecemeal demolition of other 
NDHAs (Non-Designated Heritage Assets) in Wiltshire”. 
 

In December 2022, Wiltshire Council adopted the Chute Design Guide as a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications within the village concerned. The 
Guide seeks to ensure that new developments in the village respects the essential character 
of the ‘Chutes’, as concerns had been expressed about infill development and replacement 
dwellings in the area. 
 
The Design Guide seeks to ensure that replacement dwellings are not substantially larger 
than the existing and is an overall design that is not overbearing or detrimental to the 
amenity of nearby residents. The policy relating to infill development seeks to ensure that the 
new dwellings are small (no more than 120sqm gross internal). 
 
Documentation submitted in support of the application argues that this proposal is a 
replacement building for the redundant public house, and should therefore be treated as 
infill. On that basis the current proposal would not meet the criteria in Policy 5 of the Design 
Guide as the property is substantially in excess of 120sqm as it is larger than the building on 
site at the moment, which is 445sqm according to the application form. However, it should 
also be noted that the applicants have sought confirmation that works to commence the 
conversion of the pub to a dwelling have taken place and therefore the history of the building 
and the site is more complex that does not fit easily within the criterial relating to infill in the 
village.  
 
Officers submit that given a material start has been made to convert the public to a dwelling 
under the consented 2019 application, this application for the demolition of the former Inn be 
treated as a replacement dwelling for the purposes of the Design Guide, which does allow 
for dwellings to be increased by up to 30% of their original internal gross floor area, and it 
should be noted that he current application would appear to comply with that provision of the 
policy. 

 

9.2 Heritage Impacts 

The site lies within the Upper Chute Conservation area, and therefore the Council has a 
statutory duty under section 72 of the Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
of a Conservation Area.  CP57 and CP58 of Wiltshire Core Strategy apply with regard to 
design and heritage expectations. 
 
The NPPF states: 
 
196. Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage to, a heritage asset, the 

deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into account in any decision. 

199. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the 

more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether 

any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 

significance. 

200. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification.[etc] 

Page 26



201. Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or 
loss, or all of the following apply: 
 
 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
 
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 
 
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 
 
202. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
203. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that 
directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset. 
 
Guidance on the assessment of the contribution(s) made by unlisted buildings to the 
character of a conservation area is provided within Historic England’s Guidance on 
Conservation Area Appraisals Appendix 2 (2006).   
 
Among the tests of historic interest suggested, this building satisfies several.  Your Officers 
are firmly of the opinion that the former Cross Keys Inn makes a positive contribution to the 
character of the CA by virtue of its evident age, traditional form and materials, and for its 
significant historic cultural role in the community.   
 
The building does have some unremarkable additions to the rear, and a 20th century side 
extension, but its frontage and forward outbuilding (its timber-clad rustic nature 
complementing the setting of the rendered inn) are unmistakably early 19th century. 
 
The appeal inspector in determining the previous refused application which sought to 
demolish and replace the building in 2020 (under application 20/06874/FUL) reached a 
similar conclusion and argued: 
 
8. Whilst the properties in this part of the settlement appeared to be of varying ages, the 

older buildings provide historic interest and context and as such they contribute positively to 

the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. By reason of its age, traditional 

scale and appearance, and given its location in a prominent position at the edge of the 

settlement, in my view the appeal property has historic significance, forming part of the 

historic fabric of the area. Consequently, I find that the appeal site and existing buildings 

make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

9. However, the positive contribution made to the Conservation Area would be limited by 

reason of the unsympathetic nature of previous alterations and extensions to the rear of the 

Page 27



former public house. Nevertheless, and despite its condition and the alterations that have 

been previously made, it still makes a limited positive contribution to the Conservation Area. 

The degree to which the additions to the rear impact on the public realm or the appreciation 
of the historic character of the building, is debatable as the fact that they cannot be readily 
seen from the public realm, diminishes their impact, and since the date of the previous 
appeal, one of these features, namely the modern conservatory, has already been 
demolished (to demonstrate the commencement of the 2019 approved conversion 
application). 
  
There is significant public interest in historic buildings within villages, especially those that 
have or have had community functions. Residents will know where those buildings are, and 
that awareness lasts long beyond any ‘change of use’.  Those walking past the site would 
know (or say to guests) “that used to be the village pub”, which contributes to our 
understanding of our villages/ communities. The alternative which would apply, if this 
application is approved) would be a case of saying “that’s where the historic village pub used 
to be”. There is significant desirability of properties of the ‘the old rectory/chapel/post 
office/school/pub’ variety, and that interest is widely recognised. 
 
The earlier conversion scheme (in 2019) referred to the public heritage benefits of the 
proposal, and made no claims that the building was beyond repair.  The current application 
has a structural assessment referred to above, and this also does not claim or demonstrate 
that it cannot be repaired carefully.  The condition of the building is not irrelevant, but its 
deteriorated state since 2019 has been attained through neglect and, as per NPPF 
paragraph 196, such neglect should not now weigh in favour of demolition. Indeed, it has 
been noted that some local residents have commented that there has been little apparent 
effort to secure the building in recent times, which is really disappointing given that consent 
was granted in 2019. 
 
With regard to the requirements of s72, great weight should be given to the desirability of 
proposals preserving or enhancing a CA.  Unless a building makes a neutral or negative 
contribution to the character of a CA, it is highly unlikely that its demolition and replacement 
can achieve this.  Put in simple terms, if there’s no building of historic interest left on the site, 
it doesn’t form part of a wider streetscene, and if one were to review the CA boundary, one 
would exclude it. It cannot therefore be possible for this proposal to preserve or enhance the 
character of the CA.  
 
Moreover, the policy expectations as set out within Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy have not been met and therefore your officers object to the proposals.   
 
In terms of NPPF levels of harm, the harm to the character of the Conservation Area is 
considered to be at the higher reaches of ‘less than substantial harm’.  The building merits 
being considered as an undesignated heritage asset, the harm to which is certainly 
substantial.   
 
In accordance with the NPPF, Public benefits may be weighed against the harm, but there 
are no clear public benefits that are not already available through the implementation of the 
2019 conversion permission. 
 
The applicants’ agents submitted a rebuttal with respect to the Council’s Conservation 
Officer consultation response and the previous Appeal Inspector in respect of the status and 
quality of the building under consideration, suggesting that the building is not worthy of 
retention due to the amount of inappropriate extensions and alterations to the property in the 
past, commenting that Historic England did not consider it worthy of Listing in 2019, 
suggesting that it is not a building that has retained any long-term local affection due to the 

Page 28



fact that it failed as a public house, and commenting that the building as it stands, with its 
ungainly extensions, has for some considerable time made a neutral or even negative 
contribution to the Conservation Area.  
 
They conclude that a replacement dwelling of appropriate scale, design and use of materials 
would be wholly in keeping with local character and would enhance this part of the 
conservation area.  
 
It is worth noting, however, that the rebuttal also comments that “it has not been claimed that 
the building is beyond economic repair, simply that it is not of sufficient historic or 
architectural interest to merit retention.” 
 
Notwithstanding the above comments, it is the opinion of your officers that the demolition of 
the building, which has a limited positive contribution to the Conservation Area in the opinion 
of the Inspector who determined the last appeal on the site, cannot be justified in light of the 
clear guidance in the NPPF, as set out above, to prevent the loss of important assets unless 
there is a very convincing reason why.  
 
It may be more convenient to replace the existing building with a new one, but that in itself is 
not a valid justification to lose a building asset that contributes towards the special character 
of the Conservation Area.  
 
The design of the proposed replacement is an improvement on the previous scheme that 
was dismissed at appeal, but the fact that the design is more acceptable than was previously 
the case, does not overcome the principal objection to the demolition of the original building, 
which the applicant’s own heritage consultant states is not beyond economic repair. 
 
9.3 Ecology Issues 

The application has been supported by detailed ecological assessments and the Council’s 
ecologist is satisfied with the suggested provision of additional bat refuges and hibernation 
spaces, both within the main dwelling and in an old stable block to be retained for this 
purpose, as well as other biodiversity mitigation proposed. 

 

10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) 

It is the opinion of your officers that the demolition of the building, which has a limited 
positive contribution to the Conservation Area in the opinion of the Inspector who determined 
the last appeal, as referenced above, is not justified in light of the clear guidance contained 
within the NPPF, and in particular paragraph 201, which seeks to prevent the loss of 
heritage assets unless there is a very convincing justification.  
 
It may be more convenient to replace the existing building with a new one, but that in itself is 
not a justification to lose a valued building (non-designated heritage asset) within a 
Conservation Area.  
 
The design of the proposed replacement is an improvement on the previous scheme that 
was dismissed at appeal, but the fact that the design may be more acceptable than was 
previosuly the case, does not overcome the principal objection to the loss of the original 
building, which the applicant’s own heritage consultant states is not beyond economic repair. 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Refuse, for the following reason: - 
 
The former Cross Keys Inn makes a positive contribution to the character of the 
Upper Chute Conservation Area by virtue of its evident age, traditional form and 
materials, and for its significant historic cultural role within the community. The 

Page 29



building does have some unremarkable additions to the rear, and a 20th century side 
extension, but its frontage and forward outbuilding (its timber-clad rustic nature 
complementing the setting of the rendered inn) are unmistakably early 19th century, 
and contribute towards the special character of the Conservation Area. The proposed 
complete demolition, and replacement with a new dwelling is unacceptable and could 
not result in any substantial public benefits that would outweigh that harm.  
 
The building remains capable of conversion without complete demolition, and as a 
consequence, the proposed development fails to meet the provisions of S72 of the 
Planning (Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings) Act 1990, and is contrary to 
paragraphs 193 - 196 of the NPPF, and Core Policies 57 and 58 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. 
 
 
  

  

 

Page 30



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7 PL/2023/00207: Cross Keys Inn, Upper Chute, SP11 9ER
	PL.2023.00207 - Location Plan




